# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### MICHAEL WHITFIELD,

Appellant,

vs.

NEVADA STATE PERSONNEL COMMISSION; STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION; LORNA WARD, APPEALS OFFICER; AND THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, AS EMPLOYER, Electronically Filed Jul 10 2020 05:37 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Case No. 79718

District Court Case No.

CV19-00641

Respondents.

## APPEAL From the Second Judicial District Court The Honorable Kathleen Drakulich, District Judge

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

#### Introduction

Appellant Michael Whitfield timely challenged Nevada Department of Corrections' ("NDOC") termination of his employment after he had worked for NDOC for almost thirteen years, only to have his Petition for Review dismissed for its purported failure to correctly name all required respondents in the caption. As discussed below, this requirement has not been clear or uniformly applied and rather serves as a trap for the unwary and a technicality that functions to secure the dismissal of otherwise timely and meritorious petitions for review.

This Court should reverse the hyper-technical dismissal of Whitfield's petition and allow it to proceed on its merits.

#### **Statement of the Issues**

1. Whether the District Court erred when it dismissed Whitfield's Petition for Judicial Review naming all necessary respondents in accordance with NRS 233B.130(2)(a) and *Prevost v. State Department of Administration*, 134 Nev. 326, 418 P.3d 675 (2018).

2. Whether the district court erred by not accepting the timely Amended Petition for Judicial Review filed by Mr. Whitfield, a pro se litigant, to cure any alleged technical jurisdictional defects.

3. Whether *Washoe County v. Otto*, 128 Nev. 424, 282 P.3d 719 (2012), requiring strict compliance with NRS 233B.130, should be partially modified to allow amendment to a petition when, as here, it was timely filed within the 30-day jurisdictional window.

## Statement of the Case

#### I. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

This appeal arises from dismissal of a petition for judicial review challenging the final administrative decision of the Nevada Personnel Commission upholding the termination of appellant from the Nevada Department of Corrections.

#### II. Factual Background

Michael Whitfield was employed at NDOC as a corrections officer for approximately thirteen years. JA 030. In August 2017, an Order of Protection was entered against Mr. Whitfield in the Superior Court of California, County of Santa Clara, directing that Whitfield could not "own, possess, have, buy, or try to buy receive or try to receive, or in any other way get guns." *Id.* An essential function required as part of his job was to carry a firearm, and while working at NDOC, the Warm Springs Correctional Center Associate Warden was notified of the Order of Protection against Mr. Whitfield. *Id.*  In September 2017, NDOC temporarily assigned Mr. Whitfield to administrative duties not requiring a firearm, with a deadline of December 17, 2017 to resolve the issue. JA 031. Mr. Whitfield unsuccessfully attempted to get the Protective Order modified. *Id.* He was provided with notices and support from the Warden, as well as an extension to January 5, 2018, to resolve the situation and qualify for POST requirements. *Id.* 

In March 2018, Mr. Whitfield was served by NDOC with a Notice of Allegations Administrative Investigation, followed by Specificity of Charges the following month. JA 031–032. A pre-disciplinary hearing was held in April. JA032. After Mr. Whitfield was unable to comply with the terms of his employment at NDOC (to possess a firearm and qualify for firearm use biannually), Mr. Whitfield was terminated, effective April 20, 2018. JA033.

#### III. <u>Procedural History</u>

Mr. Whitfield appealed NDOC's decision to the Nevada State Personnel Commission. On December 14, 2018, the Nevada State Personnel Commission conducted an administrative hearing before a hearing officer. JA028 ("BEFORE THE NEVADA STATE PERSONAL

COMMISSION HEARING OFFICER"). The only parties of record to that proceeding were Mr. Whitfield, as the petitioner-employee, and NDOC as the respondent-employer. *Id.* On March 1, 2019, the hearing officer issued her "findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decision," which ultimately upheld the termination. *Id.* 

By this point, Mr. Whitfield was representing himself and continued to do so until this Court referred his appeal to the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada for pro bono representation. *See* JA029 n.1; November 27, 2019 Order (Appeal No. 79718).

Following the hearing by the Nevada State Personnel Commission, Mr. Whitfield, acting pro se, filed a Petition for Judicial Review on March 20, 2019, in the Second Judicial District Court. JA001. The petition was captioned "IN THE MATTER OF: MICHAEL WHITFIELD (Appeal No. 1803430-LLW) Petitioner[.]" *Id.* The cited appeal number was same number used in the administrative appeal proceedings that resulted in the hearing officer's decision, which likewise included this number in its caption. *Compare id., with* JA029. The body of Mr. Whitfield's petition stated that he was petitioning "from the final judgment of the Nevada State Personnel Commission," which found him

"ineligible for reinstatement/rehire from his position as [sic] Nevada Department of Corrections." JA001. The *body* of the petition thus named as respondents to this new APA action "the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding" that upheld Mr. Whitfield's termination. *See* NRS 233B.130(2)(a).

Mr. Whitfield then timely served this petition and the summonses upon the Attorney General's Office, the director of NDOC, and the Nevada Department of Administration. JA083–92.

On April 4, 2019, NDOC filed a motion to dismiss Mr. Whitfield's petition. JA018. NDOC argued that Mr. Whitfield's petition, despite citing the Nevada State Personnel Commission and NDOC, "fail[ed] to name any respondents, much less the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding as required by NRS 233B.130(2)(a)." JA019. NDOC further contended that the 30-day window under the APA for filing a petition for judicial review had passed and that Whitfield was thus barred from amending his petition to name any ostensibly omitted respondents. JA 019, 024. In NDOC's view, these purported deficiencies deprived the court of subject matter jurisdiction over the petition. *Id*.

On April 8, 2019, before the district court had ruled on NDOC's motion to dismiss, Mr. Whitfield filed an amended petition for judicial review. JA042. The caption to this amended petition included all the entities and individuals that NDOC argued in its motion were required respondents. JA042. And the following day, Mr. Whitfield filed an opposition to NDOC's motion, arguing that, under this Court's decision in *Prevost v. State Department of Administration*, 134 Nev. 326, 418 P.3d 675 (2018), failure to name a required respondent in the *caption* to a petition for judicial review—as opposed to its body—does not deprive a court of subject matter jurisdiction. JA046. Mr. Whitfield further contended that any omissions in his original petition were cured by his amended petition, which he asserted could be filed under NRCP 15. *Id*.

On June 24, 2019, the district court granted NDOC's motion to dismiss. JA060. It held that (1) Mr. Whitfield's original petition did not comply with the party naming requirements under NRS 233B.130 by failing to name "any respondent in the caption or the body" and (2) the APA prevented the amended petition from relating back to the original petition. JA064. Notably, the court's order did not specify which parties Mr. Whitfield's should have included in that petition. *Id*. Mr. Whitfield filed a motion for reconsideration on July 2, 2019. JA067. NDOC filed an opposition on July 11, and Mr. Whitfield replied on July 16. JA072, 093. On September 17, 2019, the district court denied the motion, ruling that no new issues of fact or law justified changing its prior ruling. JA107, 110.

On September 23, 2019, Mr. Whitfield, still acting pro se, appealed the district court's order denying his motion for reconsideration. JA 113. He subsequently moved to amend his notice to appeal in order to clarify that he was also appealing the underlying order dismissing his petition for judicial review. JA116 (motion); JA121 (attached amended notice of appeal). NDOC eventually moved to dismiss Mr. Whitfield's appeal. This Court denied that motion, holding that it could "be reasonably inferred from the original notice of appeal and case appeal statement that [Mr. Whitfield] intended to appeal from the underlying judgment" and that his notice of appeal was timely filed. December 9, 2019 Order (Appeal No. 79718).

Soon after, undersigned counsel agreed to represent Mr. Whitfield pro bono, in conjunction with two student-practice certified law students as part of the Partners in Pro Bono program.

#### Summary of the Argument

The district court erred by dismissing Mr. Whitfield's petition for judicial review because he complied with all statutory requirements necessary to confer subject matter jurisdiction on the district court to review the administrative agency's final decision. If Mr. Whitfield's petition was defective, the district court should have permitted the promptly-filed amended petition to cure any technical defects.

Mr. Whitfield complied with all naming requirements necessary to confer jurisdiction on the district court. The APA only requires that a petition name "the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding." The only respondents Mr. Whitfield's petition needed to name were (1) the Nevada State Personnel Commission and (2) the Nevada Department of Corrections. Mr. Whitfield's petition indeed named both of the necessary respondents.

Further, this Court has recognized that naming respondents in the body of a petition for judicial review is sufficient to satisfy the APA and confer jurisdiction on the district court to have jurisdiction. *Prevost*, 134 Nev. at 328, 418 P.3d at 676 (holding that "the failure to identify a party in the caption of a petition for judicial review is not, in and of itself, a

fatal jurisdictional defect"). Because Mr. Whitfield complied with all naming requirements, this Court should reverse the dismissal of the petition and allow it to proceed on its merits.

Further, these requirements should not be so strictly and technically construed that they serve as a trap for the unwary. As a pro se litigant, Mr. Whitfield diligently took the steps necessary to challenge his dismissal from his lengthy career as a public servant and have that decision reviewed by a court. He filed his petition on time and in the proper court. He also named all necessary respondents and included the appeal number assigned to his case before the Personnel Commission. Mr. Whitfield also served all necessary respondents and the Attorney General's Office with his petition, such that all necessary respondents received notice and were aware of the underlying administrative matter.

Despite taking all necessary steps, NDOC secured the dismissal of Mr. Whitfield's petition by moving to dismiss the petition just one day after the 30-day window for filing a petition expired—thus purportedly depriving him of the opportunity to file a new petition. But Mr. Whitfield

promptly attempted to correct the alleged errors by filing his amended petition just two business days later.

Otto's strict compliance standard should not function to dismiss swaths of petitions based on technicalities rather than their merits. This Court decided as much in *Prevost* and should likewise conclude here that form should not be elevated over substance. Where a petition names the required respondents—albeit not in the caption—it conforms with the APA.

Here, Mr. Whitfield complied with all requirements and his petition should be considered on the merits.

#### **Standard of Review**

An issue of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Ogawa v. Ogawa*, 125 Nev. 660, 667, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009). Likewise, issues of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. *Webb v. Shull*, 128 Nev. 85, 88–89, 270 P.3d 1266, 1268 (2012).

#### Argument

## I. Mr. Whitfield's Petition for Judicial Review Was Sufficient Because the Nevada State Personnel Commission and the Nevada Department of Corrections Were Named in the Petition and on Notice.

Mr. Whitfield fulfilled the statutory requirements for filing a petition for judicial review. Under NRS 233B.130(2)(a), a petition for judicial review must, "name as respondents the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding." Therefore, the only necessary respondents for this petition were (1) the Nevada State Personnel Commission and (2) the Nevada Department of Corrections.

Here, Whitfield identified both the Nevada State Personnel Commission and NDOC in the *body* of his petition. JA001. In *Prevost v. State Department of Administration*, the Nevada Supreme Court clarified that "the failure to identify a party in the caption of a petition for judicial review is not, in and of itself, a fatal jurisdictional defect." 134 Nev. 326, 328, 418 P.3d 675, 676 (2018). There is no statutory requirement mandating the petitioner to name the respondents in the caption. *See id.*, 418 P.3d at 676–77.

# A. The Nevada State Personnel Commission and the Nevada Department of Corrections Were the Proper <u>and Only Necessary Respondents.</u>

Judicial review of an administrative agency's decision in Nevada, including the requirements for filing a petition for review, is controlled by the Nevada Administrative Procedures Act (APA). *Washoe County v. Otto*, 128 Nev. 424, 430, 282 P.3d 719, 724 (2012). An aggrieved party may request judicial review by filing a petition naming, "the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding." NRS 233B.130(2)(a).

In Mr. Whitfield's case, the agency was the Nevada State Personnel Commission, and the only parties of record to the administrative proceeding were "MICHAEL WHITFIELD, Petitioner-Employee," and "STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, Respondent-Employer." JA028.

Therefore, the only entities Mr. Whitfield was required to name in his petition for judicial review were the Nevada State Personnel Commission and the Nevada Department of Corrections. Mr. Whitfield was not required to name any additional agencies or parties in his petition for judicial review.

# B. Failure to Name the Respondents in the *Caption* of the Petition Was Not Jurisdictionally Fatal.

Mr. Whitfield named the required respondents in the body of his petition for judicial review and therefore fulfilled the statutory requirements for the district court to have jurisdiction over this matter. Pursuant to NRS 233B.130(2)(a), a petitioner must name the agency and parties of record as respondents, but there is no requirement that the petitioner list these names in the caption. In *Otto*, the Nevada Supreme Court determined that a petitioner must name these parties in a petition for judicial review or the district court would lack jurisdiction over the case. 128 Nev. at 432–33, 282 P.3d at 725. But in *Prevost*, the Court clarified that "*Otto* implicitly recognizes that the failure to identify a party in the caption of a petition for judicial review is not, in and of itself, a fatal jurisdictional defect." *Prevost*, 134 Nev. at 328, 418 P.3d at 676.

Mr. Whitfield's case is more analogous to the circumstances in *Prevost* than to those in *Otto*. In *Otto*, the petitioner was a county, not an individual. *See* 128 Nev. at 429, 282 P.3d at 723. Washoe County failed to name the individual proper parties as respondents, instead listing all respondents as "Certain Taxpayers," even after the district court allowed amendment of the petition. *Id.* at 429–30, 282 P.3d at

723–24. The county did not name the individual respondents anywhere in the petition. *Id.* at 434, 282 P.3d at 726.

Conversely, in *Prevost*, an individual filed a petition for judicial review and failed to name all proper respondents in the caption or explicitly in the body of the petition. *See* 418 P.3d at 676. But because the petitioner named the respondent in the body of the petition through incorporation by reference of the attached administrative decision, the Court determined the petition was not jurisdictionally deficient. *Id.* at 676–77.

Here, Mr. Whitfield did name all proper respondents in the body of his petition. Both the Nevada State Personnel Commission (the agency) and NDOC (the only party of record to the administrative proceeding, other than Mr. Whitfield) were explicitly named in the body of the petition. JA001. Indeed, the petition here presents an even more straightforward application of the APA's naming requirements than the petition in *Prevost*, which only named the missing respondent in its body through the incorporation-by-reference doctrine.

Moreover, Mr. Whitfield's petition provided the named respondents and the Attorney General's Office ample notice of what administrative

decision he was challenging. The petition's caption cited the case number for the underlying administrative proceeding. *Compare* JA001 (citing Appeal No. 1803430-LLW), *with* JA029 (the hearing officer's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decision in Appeal No. 1803430-LLW). And NDOC did not contend in it motion to dismiss that any party lacked notice. *See* JA021.

Accordingly, Mr. Whitfield fulfilled the statutory requirements of NRS 233B.130 and the district court had proper jurisdiction over his petition for judicial review.

## II. Under Principles of Equity, Fairness, and Access to Justice, <u>Amendment of the Petition Should Be Permitted.</u>

It is generally accepted that courts liberally construe pro se parties' complaints and appellate briefs. *See Erickson v. Pardus*, 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007), *Nordstrom v. Ryan*, 762 F.3d 903, 908 (9th Cir. 2014). Further, it is generally accepted that pro se parties should have leave to amend when curing the deficiency is at all possible. *See Crowley v. Bannister*, 734 F.3d 967, 977 (9th Cir. 2013). Courts are "generally more solicitous of the rights of pro se litigants, particularly when technical jurisdictional requirements are involved." *Borzeka v. Heckler*, 739 F.2d 444, 447 n.2

(9th Cir. 1984). Finally, sophisticated practitioners should not obstruct pro se litigants of judicial review based on a mere technicality.

## A. The Nevada Administrative Procedures Act Does Not Address Timelines to Amend Petitions and Therefore Does Not Allow Adequate Access to Justice for Pro Se Litigants.

Under NRS 233B.130(2)(d), a petition for judicial review must be filed within 30 days after service of the final decision of the agency. However, nothing in the text provides guidance on timeliness of amendments to correct errors in the petition, when jurisdiction has been properly invoked. *See* NRS 233B.130. The APA only addresses the timeline to file a petition for judicial review, not a timeline for amendments.

Nonetheless, Nevada courts have summarily discarded numerous petitions for judicial review based on motions to dismiss that take advantage of technical deficiencies in petitions for judicial review dealing with either the technical captioning requirements or service requirements. Many of these motions to dismiss have been filed by the administrative appellee and involve the Attorney General's Office in some form. See, e.g., Heat & Frost Insulators & Allied Workers Local 16 v. Labor Comm'r, 134 Nev. 1, 408 P.3d 156 (2018); Sun City Summerlin v. Sun City Summerlin, 451 P.3d 82, 2019 WL 5681200 (Nev. Oct. 31, 2018) (unpublished); Washington v. Las Vegas Parking Inc., 2019 WL 1396790 (Nev. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2019) (unpublished); Sadjadi v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., 2018 WL 5801940, at \*1 (Nev. Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2018) (unpublished); Hillygus v. State Dep't of Admin., 2018 WL 4405839 (Nev. Ct. App Aug. 30, 2018) (unpublished). These dismissals are depriving people of review in ways that are undesirable.

And as these cases demonstrate, the strict interpretation of NRS 233B.130(2)(d), along with the Attorney General's broad reading of the APA's naming requirements, has caused confusion among both pro se litigants and experienced practitioners as to what entities must be named in a petition for judicial review. As a result, the APA has become a trap for the unwary, excluding petitioners from court based on minor omissions they are unable to correct through amendment, thus depriving them of their right to due process in court.

Here, Mr. Whitfield, a pro se petitioner who should have liberal discretion to amend, was deprived of his access to justice. NDOC filed its motion to dismiss based on a purported technical deficiency, the day after the 30-day window for filing a petition for judicial review expired.

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