**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

MICHAEL WHITFIELD,

Petitioner,

vs.

NEVADA STATE PERSONNEL  
COMMISSION, STATE OF NEVADA  
DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION,  
LORNA WARD, APPEALS OFFICER,  
and DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,  
as Employer,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 79718  
Electronically Filed  
Sep 23 2020 09:33 a.m.  
Dist. Court Case No. 2019-0054  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

**APPEAL**

**From the Second Judicial District Court  
The Honorable Kathleen Drakulich, District Judge**

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

AARON D. FORD  
Attorney General  
KEVIN A. PICK  
Senior Deputy Attorney General  
Nevada Bar No. 11683  
State of Nevada

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

### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The mandatory and jurisdictional requirements of NRS 233B.130(2) are plain and unambiguous. All petitions for judicial review *must* “name as respondents the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding” and “be filed within 30 days after service of the final decision of the agency.” *See* NRS 233B.130(2)(a)-(d). All petitions must strictly comply with these mandatory and jurisdictional requirements and a statutorily defective petition cannot be amended outside of the APA’s 30-day filing deadline. *Otto*, 128 Nev. at 432, 435.

Here, Whitfield failed to name *any* respondents *anywhere* in his petition for judicial review. No respondents were named in the caption; none were named in the body; and none were named by attachment incorporated by reference (there were none). Whitfield also failed to amend his statutorily defective petition within the APA’s 30-day filing period.

As such, the district court correctly dismissed Whitfield’s petition for lack of jurisdiction based on his failure to strictly comply with the APA’s mandatory and jurisdictional naming requirements. The district court also correctly refused leave to amend this statutorily defective petition outside of the APA’s 30-day filing period. Frankly, no other result could have been reached without the district court abandoning the mandatory language of NRS 233B.130(2) and ignoring the seminal case of *Washoe County v. Otto*.

Whitfield raises two hasty arguments that his petition somehow *substantially* complied with the APA's naming requirements; however, apart from the fact that strict compliance is the applicable standard<sup>1</sup>, both of Petitioner's arguments are irreversibly flawed.

Whitfield first argues that he sufficiently named the Personnel Commission and NDOC in the body of the petition; however, the text of the petition speaks for itself. Nowhere are NDOC or the Personnel Commission named as respondents and certainly not in a manner that would satisfy strict compliance. Furthermore, the Department of Administration and Hearing Officer Ward were *also* necessary respondents but were wholly omitted from the petition and this omission is ignored in Whitfield's opening brief.

Second, the opening brief cites *Prevost* and argues that the mere failure to name respondents in the caption of a petition is not fatal. However, the petition herein did not *merely* fail to name respondents in the caption, as no respondents were named in the body of the petition and there were no attachments that purported to incorporate respondents by reference. As such, Whitfield's reliance on *Prevost* is misplaced, as *Prevost* actually reaffirms Whitfield's failure to strictly comply with NRS 233B.130(2)(a).

---

<sup>1</sup> See *Otto*, 128 Nev. at 432 (“petitioner must strictly comply with the APA's procedural requirements.”)

Whitfield no doubt realizes that he is on the wrong side of binding precedent in *Washoe County v. Otto*, which is why the remainder of the opening brief urges this Court to disregard the mandatory language of NRS 233B.130 and “modify” *Otto* to allow a substantial compliance standard that permits the untimely amendment of statutorily defective petitions. Indeed, the vast majority of the opening brief ignores the actual district court order challenged on appeal and, instead, hurls a series of fragmented arguments at *Otto* and NRS 233B.130(2).

While ignoring the sound reasoning of the Supreme Court’s jurisdictional analysis in *Otto*, the opening brief first argues that nothing in NRS 233B.130(2) specifically prohibits the untimely amendment of a statutorily defective petition. However, the naming and filing requirements of NRS 233B.130(2) are mandatory<sup>2</sup> and nowhere does NRS 233B.130(2) permit the untimely amendment of defective petitions, which would be contrary to the 30-day filing deadline. Furthermore, even if NRS 233B.130 was silent in this regard, the judiciary cannot step into the shoes of the Nevada Legislature and fill in alleged legislative omissions. *See McKay v. Bd. of Cty. Comm’r*, 103 Nev. 490, 492, 746 P.2d 124, 125 (1987).

Next, the opening brief argues that the Court should relax the strict compliance standard under NRS 233B.130(2) for *pro se* litigants and thereby permit the untimely amendment of defective petitions. However, jurisdictional

---

<sup>2</sup> *Otto*, 128 Nev. at 432 (As used in NRS 233B.130(2), the word “must” imposes a mandatory requirement).

requirements (such as those in NRS 233B.130(2)) go to a court's authority to act and even *pro se* litigants must meet basic jurisdictional requirements. Furthermore, the naming and filing requirements of NRS 233B.130(2) are mandatory and jurisdictional<sup>3</sup>; therefore, the Court cannot simply ignore the Nevada Legislature and judicially legislate an exception to NRS 233B.130(2) for *pro se* litigants.

The opening brief also relies on NRCP 15 and argues that an untimely amended petition for judicial review should relate back and cure a statutorily defective petition. However, amendment is not permitted by NRS 233B.130, which is therefore inconsistent with NRCP 15 and renders NRCP 15 inapplicable. *See Nev. R. Civ. P. 81(a)*. Furthermore, as explained in *Otto*, a district court lacks authority to grant leave to amend if the original petition was statutorily defective and failed to timely invoke the court's jurisdiction in the first place. *Otto*, 128 Nev. at 435.

The final argument offered in the opening brief is that *Otto* should be modified because it was "badly reasoned" and created an unworkable standard that victimizes novice litigants. However, apart from generally declaring that all jurisdictional requirements are unfair, the opening brief never explains how the Supreme Court's sound reasoning in *Otto* was legally erroneous. Furthermore, the petition herein was not defective because *Otto* is unclear or because NRS 233B.130(2)(a) is vague as to which respondents must be named. The petition herein failed to name *any* respondents *anywhere* in the petition or in *any* attachment incorporated by reference.

---

<sup>3</sup> *Otto*, 128 Nev. at 432.

In sum, the district court correctly applied binding precedent and dismissed Whitfield's defective petition, which irrefutably failed to strictly comply with the jurisdictional naming requirements of NRS 233B.130(2)(a) and therefore could not be amended outside of the APA's 30-day filing deadline. The district court fully complied with *Otto* and its progeny, which are soundly reasoned and which have been correctly utilized by countless litigants (both represented and unrepresented) for nearly a decade. Accordingly, NDOC respectfully urges this Court to affirm the district court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss.

#### IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

##### A. **WHITFIELD'S PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW FAILED TO STRICTLY COMPLY WITH THE MANDATORY AND JURISDICTIONAL NAMING REQUIREMENTS OF NRS 233B.130(2)(a) AND THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED THIS CASE FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION.**

Nevada's Administrative Procedures Act (APA), codified as NRS Chapter 233B, governs judicial review of administrative decisions, such as those issued in contested cases under NRS Chapter 284. *See generally* NRS Chapter 233B; *see also* NRS 284.390(9). NRS 233B.130 provides in pertinent part as follows:

2. Petitions for judicial review **must**:
  - (a) **Name as respondents the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding;**  
\* \* \*
  - (d) Be filed within 30 days after service of the final decision of the agency.  
\* \* \*
6. The provisions of this chapter **are the exclusive means of judicial review** of, or judicial action concerning, a final

decision in a contested case involving an agency to which this chapter applies.

(Emphasis added).

“When a party seeks judicial review of an administrative decision, **strict compliance** with the statutory requirements for such review **is a precondition to jurisdiction** by the court of judicial review,” and “[n]oncompliance with the requirements is grounds for dismissal.” *Kame v. Employment Security Dep’t*, 105 Nev. 22, 25, 769 P.2d 66, 68 (1989) (emphasis added). “To invoke a district court’s jurisdiction to consider a petition for judicial review, the petitioner must **strictly comply** with the APA’s procedural requirements.” *Washoe Cty. v. Otto*, 128 Nev. 424, 431, 282 P.3d 719, 725 (2012) (emphasis added). Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Court has specifically instructed that “pursuant to NRS 233B.130(2)(a), it is mandatory to name all parties of record in a petition for judicial review of an administrative decision, and a district court lacks jurisdiction to consider a petition that fails to comply with this requirement.” *See Otto*, 128 Nev. at 432–33; *see also Sierra Club v. State Div. of Environmental Protection*, No. 59906, 2013 WL 7158582 at 2 (Nev. Dec. 19, 2013) (unpublished); *Cooper Roofing and Solar, LLC v. Chief Administrative Officer of Occupational Safety & Health Admin.* No. 67914, 2016 WL 2957129, at 2 (Nev. May 19, 2016) (unpublished). Accordingly, the failure to comply with the naming requirements of NRS 233B.130(2)(a) leaves a district court without jurisdiction to even consider the underlying decision of the

administrative agency. *Id.* at 432–34. Furthermore, a petitioner who fails to strictly comply with this mandatory requirement cannot properly correct the deficiency outside of the 30-day filing deadline set forth in NRS 233B.130(2)(d). *Id.*

Here, Whitfield failed to identify *any* respondent in either the caption or the body of his petition. JA: 001–002. Whitfield did not incorporate by reference any portion of Hearing Officer Ward’s Decision and Order. *Id.* Whitfield did not attach any document to his petition. *Id.* Whitfield merely identified himself as the “petitioner” in the caption and no respondents are identified at all. Nor does the word “respondent” appear anywhere in the body of the petition and no parties are identified as “respondents” to judicial review. In fact, the only place the word “respondent” appears in the petition is below the signature block, where Whitfield identified himself as the “respondent.” *Id.*

As such, Whitfield irrefutably failed to “strictly comply” (or even substantially comply) with the mandatory and jurisdictional naming requirements of NRS 233B.130(2)(a). *See Otto*, 128 Nev. at 431. Any argument to the contrary is belied by the actual text of the petition and by Whitfield’s untimely attempt to amend his defective petition and add four new respondents. JA: 042–044. Frankly, if the necessary respondents had already been identified in the petition, then there would be no need to amend the petition. Furthermore, in his amended petition, Whitfield readily concedes that “Petitioner inadvertently erred in not listing the Respondents

in the caption of his Petition and hereby files this amended petition in order to correct said error.” JA: 043. Accordingly, not only has Whitfield (through his words and actions) knowingly admitted that his petition failed to strictly comply with the naming requirements of NRS 233B.130(2)(a), but he is judicially estopped from taking an inconsistent position on appeal. *See NOLM, LLC v. County of Clark*, 120 Nev. 736, 743, 100 P.3d 658, 663 (2004) (Judicial estoppel requires, inter alia, that a party took contrary positions “in judicial or quasi-judicial administrative proceedings.”)

Therefore, because Whitfield failed to strictly comply with NRS 233B.130(2)(a) and because the district court lacked jurisdiction to permit amendment outside of the APA's 30-day time limit, the district court was correct in dismissing Whitfield's petition for lack of jurisdiction. *See Otto*, 128 Nev. at 431.

The opening brief levies two main arguments with respect to the petition's failure to strictly comply with NRS 233B.130(2)(a). *See Opening Brief*, at 11–15. First, the opening brief argues that the petition somehow *did* name the Nevada State Personnel Commission and NDOC as respondents in the body of the petition and that no other respondents were required to be named. Second, the opening brief cites *Prevost* and argues that Whitfield's mere failure to name respondents in the caption of the petition was not fatal. *Id.* However, both of these arguments are incorrect, legally unworkable, and belied by the record.

**1. The Petition did not “strictly comply” with NRS 233B.130(2)(a).**

Initially, Whitfield argues that he strictly complied with NRS 233B.130(2)(a) by mentioning the underlying administrative judgment and that said judgment found Whitfield “ineligible” to return to his former position. *See* Opening Brief, at 11–12. Then, Whitfield argues that the Personnel Commission and NDOC were the only two respondents required to be named under NRS 233B.130(2)(a). *Id.*

However, respectfully, Whitfield can only make these arguments by torturing that language of his own petition. When looking to the actual text of the petition, it merely indicates that Whitfield was appealing “the final judgment of” the State Personnel Commission, but the petition does not name the Personnel Commission “as a respondent” in order to strictly comply with NRS 233B.130(2)(a). JA: 001 (emphasis added). Even more apparent, the petition merely indicates that Whitfield was found “ineligible for reinstatement/rehire to his position as [sic] Nevada Department of Corrections.” *Id.* (emphasis added). But again, nowhere does the Petition name NDOC “as a respondent” or even reference NDOC as a party to the underlying administrative proceeding. *Id.* It was not “strict compliance” with NRS 233B.130(2)(a) for Mr. Whitfield to merely allude to an unattached judgment or to say that he was found ineligible for rehire at his former position. Such casual remarks simply do not name the Personnel Commission as an agency-respondent or NDOC as a party-respondent. As such, the content of the petition did not strictly comply (or

even substantially comply) with the mandatory and jurisdictional naming requirements of NRS 233B.130(2)(a). Therefore, the district court correctly dismissed the petition for lack of jurisdiction. To hold otherwise would allow substantial compliance or (more accurately) non-compliance to suffice where “strict compliance” is required. *See Otto*, 128 Nev. at 432.

Furthermore, Whitfield incorrectly argues that NRS 233B.130(2)(a) *only* required him to name the Personnel Commission and NDOC (and no others) as respondents. NRS 233B.130(2)(a) expressly requires the petitioner to name as respondents “the agency” and “all parties of record to the administrative proceeding.” Apart from failing to name NDOC as a respondent, the petition also did not name “the agency” as a respondent. The term “agency” is defined in NRS 233B.031 as “an agency, bureau, board, commission, department, division, officer or employee of the Executive Department of the State Government authorized by law to make regulations or to determine contested cases.” As with all statutes, this definition must be read in harmony with other statutes and read in the broader context of the statute as a whole. *See Bowyer v. Taack*, 107 Nev. 625, 627, 817 P.2d 1176, 1177 (1991); *see also Nev. Dep’t of Corrs. v. York Claims Servs.*, 131 Nev. 199, 204, 348 P.3d 1010, 1013 (2015). NRS Chapter 233B not only provides the procedure for review of contested administrative decisions (like those under NRS Chapter 284), but also provides the general procedure for adopting and reviewing administrative regulations. *See NRS 233B.0395, et seq.* Therefore, since the matter

at bar was an appeal of a contested case, the “agency” under NRS 233B.031 (i.e. the employee of the Executive Department authorized to determine contested cases) was Hearing Officer Ward. *See* NRS 233B.031 (defining “agency”); *see also* NRS 284.091 (ordering the appointment of hearing officers to conduct hearings and render decisions as provided in NRS 284.376 and 284.390). However, it is undisputed that Hearing Officer Ward was not identified as a respondent anywhere in the petition. JA: 001–002. Nor was Hearing Officer Ward’s Decision and Order attached and incorporated by reference into the petition. *Id.* Accordingly, since the petition failed to name Hearing Officer Ward as a respondent, the petition failed to strictly comply with NRS 233B.130(2)(a) and dismissal was necessary. *See Otto*, 128 Nev. at 431.<sup>4</sup>

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